## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ADAM DAVIS,	)			
	)			
	)			
	)			
Appellant,	)			
	)			
vs.	)	CASE	NUMBER	SC00-313
	)			
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)			
	)			
Appellee.	)			
	)			

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GUILLERMO E. GOMEZ, JR. FLORIDA BAR NO.: 0847003 Gomez & Touger, P.A. 3115 W. Columbus Drive Suite 109 Tampa, FL 33607 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

####

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The original record on appeal comprises fifteen consecutively numbered volumes. (I-XV). The pages of volumes I through IV are numbered consecutively (pages 1-654) and include various pleadings and orders filed in the case. The pages of volumes V through XV are numbered consecutively (pages 1-1570) and include the transcripts of the jury trial and pre- and post-trial hearings.

Counsel will refer to the original record on appeal using volume number with reference to the appropriate pages. The supplemental record on appeal comprises one volume containing consecutively numbered pages (1 - 5). Counsel will refer to the supplemental record using the symbol (SR) with reference to the appropriate volume and page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 8, 1998, a Hillsborough County, Florida grand jury indicted Adam Davis, Appellant, along with co-defendants Valessa Robinson and John Whispel, with the premeditated first degree murder of Vicki Lyn Robinson.<sup>1</sup> The grand jury also charged them with Robbery with a Deadly Weapon, and Grant Theft Motor Vehicle.(I 51-55). Privately retained counsel initially represented Appellant for the guilt phase, but the trial court permitted private counsel to withdraw, over Appellant's objection (I 89,90).

On October 22, 1999, the court conducted a hearing on numerous motions filed by trial counsel. The motions and orders relevant for purposes of appeal are as follows:

<u>Motion</u>	<u>Ruling</u>
<ol> <li>Motion to Declare Section</li> <li>921.141, F.S., unconstitutional for lack of adequate appellate review;</li> </ol>	Denied (XV 1411)

- 2. Motion to Declare Section Denied 921.141, F.S., unconstitutional (XV 1411) because it precludes consideration of mitigation by imposing improper burdens of proof or persuasion
- 3. Motion to Declare section Denied 921.141, F.S., unconstitutional (XV 1412) because only a bare majority of jurors is sufficient to recommend a death sentence;
- 4. For failure to provide guidance Denied in the finding of sentencing (XV 1412) circumstances, and to preclude death sentence or to allow unrestricted consideration of mitigation evidence;
- 5. And/or s921.141(5)(h), F.S., Denied and/or Standard (5)(h) instruction (XV 1413)

<sup>&#</sup>x27;The State sought the death penalty only in Appellant's case. Co-defendant Valessa Robinson was ineligible due to her age at the time of the offense. (XV 1565). On June 29, 1990, codefendant Whispel plead pursuant to an amended indictment to second degree murder, grand theft third degree, and grand theft motor vehicle. (I 13-14).

	unconstitutional facially and as applied (heinous, atrocious, and cruel)	
6.	Motion to Declare unconstitutional Section 921.141 (5)(1), F.S., uncon- Stitutional facially and as applied (cold, calculating, premeditated)	Denied (XV 1412)
7.	Motion for additional peremptory challenges due to numerical disparity regarding peremptory challenges and section 913.08, F.S. (1987) due to sensitive voir dire issues in this case;	Denied (XV 1434)
8.	Motion to exclude photographic Evidence;	Denied (XV 1419)
9.	Motion to declare death penalty Unconstitutional as imposed under 921.141 and 922.10, F.S.	Denied (XV 1409)
10.	Motion to preclude death penalty Due to proportionality	Denied (XV 1410)
11.	Motion to Declare Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure unconstitutional As applied to separate sentencing Procedure based on Florida Statutes	Denied (XV 1436)
On October 26, 1999, the trial court conducted a hearing		

on Appellant's motion to suppress statements he gave to law enforcement immediately after his arrest. (XV 1446). The trial court denied the motion. (XV 1540).

## VOIR DIRE

The case proceeded to trial on November 1, 1999. During jury selection, the court conducted voir dire in two separate

fashions. The first consisted of individual voir dire on the issues of pre-trial publicity and the death penalty. (VI 104). After seven hours of this individualized examination, the court changed the method of voir dire and ordered that the attorneys question each potential juror in front of the panel as a whole. (VII 401) Trial counsel objected to the court's decision to change the manner of the jury selection midway through the process. (IX 626).

During the individual voir dire process, trial counsel attempted to ask whether mercy could play a role in the potential juror's sentencing recommendation. The trial court sustained the State's objection. (V 20). However, the trial court did eventually permit trial counsel to proceed with this method of inquiry.

During the individual voir dire process, trial counsel asked prospective juror Pritchett if he believes mercy played a part in his decision as a juror.(V 20). The same inquiry was made to prospective juror Mosier. Potential juror Vernon Mosier stated that he would not consider mercy towards Appellant a reason to impose a life sentence over death. (V 82-82). He reaffirmed that position during the group selection process conducted the next day. (IX 625). As a result, trial counsel moved to strike Mr. Mosier for cause. The court denied the strike for cause. (IX 630). Mr. Mosier eventually becomes the foreman of the jury. (IV 598).

Also during jury selection, prospective juror Whitman stated that the manner of the victim's death was going to probably cause her a problem. Trial counsel moved to strike prospective juror Whitman for cause and said motion was denied. (VI 160,163). Prospective juror Eustace informed trial counsel and the court during jury selection that he had previously formed an opinion that the Defendant was guilty. In response, trial counsel moved to strike prospective juror Eustace for cause, a request the court denied. (VI 191, 199).

Prospective juror Junda stated that he could not be fair and impartial. Regardless, the court refused to strike Mr. Junda for cause. (VI 210 - 11). Trial counsel also requested that prospective juror Hall be stricken due to her description as the incident being a tragic one. Trial counsel argued that the pre-trial publicity regarding the facts of the case would prevent the prospective juror Hall from being fair and impartial and moved to strike her for cause. The court denied the request. (VI 241 - 258).

During the voir dire process, the court attempted to give its own explanation of a death penalty case. During the explanation of the second phase of a death penalty case, the court stated:

"In phase two, you, as jurors, will receive information from the state attorney's office who will present evidence to you concerning aggravating factors. The state must prove these aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt to you, as jurors,

upon which you could base a verdict for the death penalty. The defense in this case will present to you mitigating factors on a *preponderance of the evidence to establish those mitigating factors."* (emphasis added) (VIII 416).

The court then goes on to state:

"You will then be asked - - you will then be asked to weigh those aggravating factors against those mitigating factors and determine as a jury panel whether you feel the appropriate recommended sentence in this case would be a sentence of life in prison or a death penalty sentence. You make that recommendation to me as the judge."

Further along in the voir dire process, the State informs the jury that co-defendant Valessa Robinson had not yet gone to trial. (VIII 499). In addition, she was not eligible to receive the death penalty and that the second co-defendant, John Whispel, pled guilty to second-degree murder and received twenty-five years in the Florida State Prison as a sentence. (X 645-46).

Also during the voir dire process, the prosecution delved into Appellant's presumption of innocence. Specifically, the State commented that

"You can never be one hundred percent positive of anything, and so that is not the burden that the State should shoulder." (IX 612)

The prosecutor further commented that

"I want to clarify something... when Mr. Davis came into court [a prospective juror] assumed that there was a reason for him to be here, and I think none of us want to think that the police are out just grabbing citizens off the street and dragging them into court for no reason, right." (IX 613).

After hearing these comments and explanations by the prosecution, prospective juror Pritchett remained equivocal, stating that "I think, I can, yeah" when asked if he could properly apply the law. (IX 613).

When questioned regarding Appellant's right to remain silent, prospective juror Whitman gave a response "I would just like anyone in that position to have something to say in their defense." (IX 614).

As a result of their equivocal answers, trial counsel again moved to strike Pritchett and Whitman for cause. The court denied both motions. (IX 627, 630, 631). As a result, the defense was forced to use preemptive strikes on these aforementioned perspective jurors. (IX 629, 631).

In questioning perspective juror Lopez, the State asked if he would be able to impose a life sentence over a death sentence on someone. (X 731). Lopez, in response, answers he "would think so". (X 731). The prosecutor then goes on to ask

"Okay. Then if the State has proven to you at least one aggravating circumstance and the defense presents to you mitigation, can you balance - - can you balance - - can you engage in the balancing test that we described to you and determine whether the aggravating factor outweighs the mitigation in which case death would be an appropriate sentence or mitigating evidence outweighs whether the the factors where life could aggravating be an appropriate sentence. Could you do that?"

Perspective juror Lopez once again equivocally answers "I believe I could, I think so." (X 731 - 32). As a result,

trial counsel moved to strike Lopez for cause. The court denied said motion. (X 733).

The defense was then forced to use its peremptories on all the aforementioned jurors, save Mr. Mosier. Having used all of its peremptories during the course of jury selection, renewed its motion for additional peremptory strikes, in order to strike Mr. Mosier.<sup>2</sup> (X 734). The court denied the request for these additional peremptories both in the pre-trial and trial phase. (X 735, XV 1434).

In sum, the court denied the following motions for cause strikes: prospective juror Pritchett, prospective juror Mosier, prospective juror Whitman, prospective juror Eustace, prospective juror Junda, prospective juror Lopez, prospective juror Carmen, prospective juror Hall, and prospective juror Brandon.

#### THE TRIAL

During the State's case-in-chief, The State presented testimony from the victim's boyfriend, cooperating codefendant Whispel, law enforcement officers, numerous lay witnesses, and the medical examiner. Detective Iverson, a Hillsborough County homicide detective, testified that he obtained a confession from co-defendant Valessa.<sup>3</sup> At cross-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Trial counsel requested additional peremptories in a standard pre-trial motion. (II 273-77).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> At the time of Appellant's trial, co-defendant Valessa Robinson had not yet proceeded to trial. (XV 1545-47). In

examination, trial counsel sought to question the detective about statements where Valessa Robinson admitting to murdering of her mother. (XII 1027, 1031). Trial counsel apparently did not proffer this confession because the Court indicated her familiarity with the nature of the statements without state objection. (X 1031). The court refused to allow any questioning regarding Valessa's confession based on the hearsay rule. (XII 1031).

The State also introduced the taped statement made by Appellant to Detective Iverson. (XII 991-1002). This taped statement had been the subject of the motion to suppress mentioned, *supra*. Trial counsel timely objected to its admission. (XI 954).

The State also sought to introduce post-mortem pictures of the decedent. Over objection, the court admitted pictures of a trashcan with the victim inside of it (XII 1099) and pictures of the corpse showing post-mortem maggot infestation. (XII 1186).

At the conclusion of the guilt phase of the trial, the jury found Appellant guilty on all counts. (IV 597-98).

### PENALTY PHASE

During the penalty phase, the trial court denied Appellant's proposed jury penalty phase instruction related

addition, she had previously invoked her constitutional rights.(I 1).

to the participation of others and to the actions of Appellant after the death of the victim. The Court denied the instructions. (XIII 1276, 1278-79, XIV 1292).

The State presented numerous impact witnesses and Appellant's certified conviction. (XIV 1294-1308, 1343). As aggravation, the State argued that the murder was committed in a harsh, atrocious, and cruel manner, as well as being cold, calculated and premeditated. (XIV 1371, 1373). As mitigation, Appellant presented testimony from a psychologist and family members. The psychologist, Dr. Michael Gamache, testified that the death of Appellant's father and the discovery that Appellant's mother was not his biological mother resulted in traumatic life changes. (XIV 1326-28). Additionally, Dr. Gamache testified about the impact of Appellant's severe drug use. (XIV 1329). Finally, Dr. Gamache provided unrefuted testimony that Appellant could be a productive member of the prison community should he be sentenced to life. (XIV 1331). Various friends and relatives of Appellant provided background as to Appellant's difficult childhood. (XIV 1344-65). After closing arguments, the jury recommended that Appellant be put to death. The vote was seven (7) to five (5). (XIV 1387).

On December 17, the Court conducted a sentencing hearing. In aggravation, the court found that Appellant had committed the crime having previously been found guilty of a

felony and under the sentence of probation. (XV 1556). In addition, the court held that the Appellant committed the crime in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner. (XV 1556). The court also found the crime to have been committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. (XV 1561).

In mitigation, the court concluded that Appellant's age was a mitigating factor, but gave it little weight. (XV 1562). The court also determined that the influence of LSD on Appellant at the time of the offense was entitled to some weight as a mitigating circumstance. (XV 1562). The court gave some weight to Appellant's lack of previous "assaultive" [sic] behavior, to hardships suffered during his youth, to his skills as a writer and artist, and to his appropriate courtroom behavior. (XV 1563-64). Of note, as to the issue of proportionality between Appellant and co-defendant Valessa Robinson, the trial court stated "...death was never an option for the defendant Robinson because of her age at the time of the offense... [t]he court would note that as between these two defendants, however, there was no significant difference in the level of culpability." (Emphasis added). (XV 1565). Nevertheless, the court sentenced Appellant to death. (XV 1567).

Appellant filed timely notice of appeal on January 6, 2000. This brief follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

During the summer of 1998, fourteen year old Valessa Robinson was giving her mother, Mrs. Vicki Robinson, a good deal of trouble. (XI 818). Valessa was a runaway 5-10 times over and a drug user. (XI 820, 895). She was also a rebellious and headstrong teenager and Mrs. Robinson found her difficult to control. (XI 818, 821).

Appellant was dating Valessa. (XI 810). Although Mrs. Robinson was troubled by the relationship, Appellant was always respectful and well mannered towards Mrs. Robinson. He was never heard to utter a disrespectful word to her or express any desire to kill her. (XI 820, 897).

On Friday, June 26, 1998, Mrs. Robinson's older daughter, Michelle, was not home because she was out-of-state with her father. (XI 810). During the course of that day, Mrs. Robinson ran errands with Valessa, Appellant, and Jon Whispel, a mutual friend of Valessa's and Appellant's. (XI 836). After finishing their errands, Mrs. Robinson dropped off Whispel at work. (XI 837). Later that same evening, Valessa, Appellant, and Whispel returned to the Robinson household. (XI 837). Mrs. Robinson, who was divorced, invited her boyfriend, Jim Englert over for supper. (XI 810). When Mr. Englert was preparing to leave the Robinson household, he inquired if Appellant and Whispel needed rides home. They turned down his offer because their bicycles were in the

garage and they did not want to leave them behind. (XI 813). Appellant and Whispel then left the Robinson house and rode their bicycles to Denny's restaurant at the intersection of Stall Road and Dale Mabry Highway, in Tampa, Florida. (XI 839).

Sometime during the evening hours, Valessa decided she was going to join Appellant and Whispel. She snuck out of the house and rode her bicycle to the Denny's restaurant. (XI 839). Meeting the Appellant and Whispel, the three youngsters left and went in search of narcotics to use during the evening. (XI 840).

Apparently successful in their drug hunt, the three returned to Denny's restaurant. There, over a meal of LSD and orange juice, Valessa Robinson decided to "kill [her] mom." (XI 840, 906). She announced her intention to Appellant and Whispel, who were both "shocked" by Valessa's murderous desires. (XI 840, 907). Regardless, Appellant and Whispel indulged Valessa's need to murder her mother and the three decided to inject Mrs. Robinson with a heroin overdose. (XI 841).

The youngsters then rode their bicycles back to Valessa's house in search of motorized transportation to secure the heroin necessary for the overdose. (XI 841). There, Appellant quietly rolled the van out of the garage as to not wake Mrs. Robinson. (XI 842). Valessa and Whispel

joined Appellant and together the three drove to a party at the home of Robert Anders. (XI 842-43). Upon arrival, Appellant entered the Anders house in search of heroin. He was not successful in finding the heroin Valessa needed to kill her mother. (XI 843). Jon Whispel, however, provided Appellant money to purchase the syringe necessary for the injection. (XI 844). The three return to the Robinson home and gather in Valessa's bedroom. (XI 845).

While in Valessa's room, Appellant, Valessa, and Whispel continue to "trip" on acid. (XI 845) They also turned on Valessa's "black light," Whispel took off his white shirt (that glowed due to the blacklight) and the three continued to "roll" on acid. (XI 845). At some point during this drug escapade, Valessa secured some bleach from the laundry room and Appellant filled Whispel's syringe with it. (XI 845-46). Valessa and Appellant then left Valessa's bedroom. (XI 847).

In the interim, Mrs. Robinson woke up. She accompanied Appellant and Valessa back to Valessa's bedroom. (XI 847). Mrs. Robinson then ordered Valessa to get her sleeping bag and demanded that Valessa sleep with her. (XI 848). Complying with Mrs. Robinson's request, Appellant handed Valessa her sleeping bag and followed her out of the room into the kitchen. (XI 848).

En route, Appellant placed Mrs. Robinson in a "sleeper" hold. (XI 849). Valessa joined him, held her mother down, as

Appellant injected Mrs. Robinson with the bleached-filled syringe. (XI 850-512). Despite these actions, Mrs. Robinson did not die. Whispel then suggested the use of a knife. (XI 852). As Whispel waited in the room with Appellant, Valessa pinned her mother down in the kitchen, and killed her by repeatedly stabbing her in the throat and back with a knife.<sup>4</sup> (SR 1, 3, 5).

Appellant then lowered Mrs. Robinson's body into a container, covered her with a blanket, and placed the container in the van. (XI 855-56). The three youths cleaned the scene with bleach, bath towels, and brushes and drove off to dispose of the body. (XI 857). They went to a trail, thinking they could bury the container. (XI 859). Due to the rough terrain, however, they were unsuccessful in their attempt. (XI 859). After concealing the container with foliage, the three eventually returned to the Robinson household. (XI 861-62). There, Valessa suggested they take her mother's credit cards since she knew the personal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This testimony conflicted with that provided initially by John Whispel. According to Whispel, Appellant stabbed Mrs. Robinson and that he returned to the bedroom with blood on his hands. (XI 852). However, Whispel later admitted that he did not see Appellant stab the victim and that he did not know who killed Mrs. Robinson. (XI 852, 884, 932). Furthermore, his ability to perceive events was altered by the "bad [acid] trip" and his lack of corrective eyewear. (XI 921, 924.)

identification numbers necessary to obtain cash. (XI 862-863).

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