IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ADAM DAVIS,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-313

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
Phone: (813) 801-0600
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Davis alleges that this factor was erroneously applied because 1) he did not have the requisite intent to inflict pain; 2) he speculates that Mrs. Robinson may have been unconscious for much of the attack; and 3) he was under the influence of LSD. However, the court's findings refute these allegations.

As to Davis's claim that there was no "intent" to torture, the facts of this case demonstrate otherwise. In addition, this Court has repeatedly recognized that intent is not a necessary element of this aggravating factor. Francis, 808 So. 2d at 135; Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1160 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 119 S. Ct. 1583 (1999). Prior cases routinely acknowledged that HAC is consistently applied where the victim suffers prolonged torture, as here, without any specific discussion as to the defendant's mental condition. This is because where facts demonstrate that a victim suffered a great deal, the reasonable inference is that the defendant either intended or was indifferent to such suffering. See also Bogle v. State, 655 So. 2d 1103 (Fla.), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 978 (1995) (rejecting claim that HAC could not be upheld because nothing in the case established that defendant intended to cause the victim unnecessary suffering).

Accordingly, the defendant's state of mind is not a dispositive fact that must be determined and weighed every time that HAC is considered. Rather, the relevant facts are typically those showing the manner in which the homicide occurred.

Nevertheless, the facts in the instant case clearly show an utter indifference to the suffering of the victim. The evidence presented below, and outlined in the court's findings on this factor, clearly demonstrate "the defendant acted with complete indifference to the victim's suffering." Bogle, 655 So. 2d at 1109.

As far as Davis's speculation about the victim's alleged lack of consciousness, the evidence showed only that unconsciousness could not have come quickly enough for Mrs. Robinson in this case. As outlined by the court below, the evidence clearly established that Robinson was conscious and suffering through much of her In <u>Guzman</u>, this Court affirmed the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor where the defensive wounds and blood trail indicated that the victim was aware of what was happening to him and would have felt pain as a result of the large number of injuries he sustained. Although Davis asserts that Mrs. Robinson may not have been conscious for much of the attack, nothing in Guzman suggests that a victim must be conscious for a "significant portion of the attack." To the contrary, this Court in Guzman only found that the victim was conscious during "at least part of the attack." 721 So. 2d at 1160. Given the description of the murder in this case, the fact that the victim had to be restrained, the medical examiner's testimony that the victim was alive and that her injuries would have been painful, it is apparent that the victim in

this case suffered horribly and that the aggravator should be affirmed.

Davis's suggestion that his use of drugs prior to the murder precluded application of this factor is similarly without merit. The record reflects that the judge below considered evidence of Davis's drug use and weighed the mitigating value of this fact (R. V4/640-41). Davis's drug use did not interfere with the extensive planning, rational thought, and physical skills necessary to commit this murder; it did not present a legal bar to application of this factor. Davis cites Holsworth v. State, 522 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 1998), and Ross v. State, 474 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1985), but neither of these cases support his position as both of those cases expressly upheld the HAC factor, despite any use of drugs prior to the crime. 522 So. 2d at 354, n.2; 474 So. 2d at 1174.

The other cases cited by Davis where this Court has reversed a finding of HAC are all easily distinguishable. In <u>Hamilton v.</u> State, 678 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 1996), the defendant shot his wife and stepson during a domestic quarrel. <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1993), also involved a shooting murder, during the course of a robbery. <u>See also Elam v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1312 (Fla. 1994) (victim was unconscious); <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989) (strangulation of semi-conscious victim); <u>Herzog v. State</u>, 439 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 1983) (victim was under heavy influence of drugs and unconscious).

The finding of HAC in this case is consistent with a number of other decisions from this Court on the applicability of that factor. See Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44, 53 (Fla. 2001) (noting factor pertains more to victim's perception of the circumstances than to the perpetrator's); Hannon v. State, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1158 (1995) (beating and stabbing of a screaming victim); Atwater v. State, 626 So. 2d 1325, 1329 (Fla. 1993) (victim beaten prior to or during the stabbing), cert. denied, 511 U.S. 1046 (1994); Randolph v. State, 562 So. 2d 331, 338 (Fla. 1990) (victim repeatedly hit, kicked, strangled, and knifed).

Finally, it must be noted that any error in the finding of this aggravating factor must be deemed harmless. Given the two other strong aggravators of cold, calculated and premeditated and committed by a defendant on felony probation, and the lack of significant mitigation, there is no reasonable possibility that Davis's sentences would have been any different had this factor been rejected below. In Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988), this Court affirmed the death sentence after striking three of the five aggravating factors found by the trial court, including cold, calculated and premeditated. In doing so, this Court noted that the reversal of a sentence is only warranted when the correction of errors could reasonably result in a different sentence. There is no reasonable

likelihood of a different sentence in this case, even without consideration of the heinous, atrocious or cruel factor.

Finally, to the extent that Davis attempts to adopt a claim presented below with regard to the constitutionality of this factor at page 58 of his brief (see footnote 7), it must be noted that his failure to assert any legal argument on appeal mandates a finding that he has waived any possible error in this regard. Sweet v. State, 810 So. 2d 854, 870 (Fla. 2002) ("because on appeal Sweet simply recites these claims from his postconviction motion in a sentence or two, without elaboration or explanation, we conclude that these instances of alleged ineffectiveness are not preserved for appellate review"); Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 256 n.5 (Fla. 1999); Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n. 6 (Fla. 1999); <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived."). No error is presented.

For all of these reasons, Davis is not entitled to any relief on this issue. On the facts of this case, this Court must uphold the finding and weighing of the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor and affirm Davis's death sentence.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING AND WEIGHING THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED.

Davis also challenges the applicability of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor found below. Once again, this Court must affirm the application of this factor since the court below applied the right rule of law, and its findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. Willacy, 696 So. 2d at 695-96.

In finding CCP, the court below stated:

Cold meaning calm, cool reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic or a fit of rage. Calculated meaning the Defendant had a careful plan or prearranged design to commit the murder. Premeditated meaning heightened premeditation as defined as deliberate ruthlessness.

The plot to kill the victim was hatched at Denny's Restaurant by the Defendant, codefendant Whispel and co-defendant Robinson, the victim's daughter. The victim did not approve of her daughter's relationship with the Defendant, but they wanted to find a way to be together. The plan was to inject the victim with a heroin overdose.

In order to accomplish their plan the trio left the Denny's on their bicycles and returned to the victim's residence. With apparent great caution so as not to wake the victim they pushed the victim's van out of the garage and down the street before they started it up. The Defendant drove and the trio set out to purchase a needle and heroin to kill the victim. Upon attempting to purchase the heroin the Defendant indicated that he wanted the drugs so he could "take someone's ass out." Although unable to obtain the heroin, the Defendant did get a needle. The three of

them returned to the victim's home and again in order to avoid detection by the victim they parked the van down the street. They went inside the house to Valessa's room to continue to plot the murder. The Defendant instructed defendant Robinson to get some bleach and a glass, which she did and he proceeded to fill the syringe. After waiting enough time to smoke another cigarette, the Defendant and defendant Robinson went to the victim's bedroom to kill her. At that point the victim woke up, the two left the room and the victim was eventually killed in the kitchen.

The initial plan to kill the victim was thought out to make it appear to be a drug overdose. Notwithstanding that they were unable to obtain the heroin they modified the plan to use bleach. Then during the actual commission of the murder when the plan failed, the Defendant finally stabbed the victim.

Although prior to the discussion at Denny's there was no plan or talk of murder and taking into account that the defendants claim to be under the influence of LSD prior to and during the discussion of the plan, but from that point forward there was a continual course of conduct over several hours that would lead to the death of the victim.

The facts of this case clearly establish that this murder was the result of a calm reflection, certainly not an emotional frenzy; a careful plan and prearranged design to kill; heightened premeditation which began several hours before the actual commission; and totally lacking of any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The aggravating factor has been proven beyond all reasonable doubt.

(R. V4/638-640).

These findings are again well-supported by the record, and must be affirmed on appeal. <u>Willacy</u>, 696 So. 2d at 695; <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994) (outlining four elements which must be proven to establish this factor), <u>cert. denied</u>, 513 U.S.

1130 (1995). As the court below properly noted, in order to establish the CCP factor, the State must prove four elements: the murder was the product of cool, calm reflection rather than prompted by frenzy or a fit of rage; the murder must be the product of a careful plan or prearranged design; there must be "heightened" premeditation; and there must be no pretense of moral or legal justification. Lott v. State, 695 So. 2d 1239, 1245 (Fla. 1997); Jackson v. State, 648 So. 2d 85, 89 (Fla. 1994). All of these factors are reflected in the court's findings outlined above, and therefore the correct law was applied below.

In this case, the evidence demonstrated that this crime was extensively planned, and the defendants were able to modify their plans as necessary to overcome difficulties. There is a notable absence of any indication of resistance, provocation, or mental disturbance that might trigger an emotional frenzy. The ruthlessness of the attack illustrates that the defendants were cool and calm, and that the killing was carried out as a matter of course. The evidence that the defendants sat around at Denny's planning the murder, the efforts to obtain the necessary heroin and syringe for the initial plan, and the ultimate reworking of the plan to adapt to the opportunities available for commission of the homicide all reflect the careful thought that went into this murder. No pretense of justification has been asserted, and there is absolutely no evidence of any possible justification in this

record.

Davis properly identifies the four elements of CCP but emphasizes that CCP is not appropriate where the killing was committed in a fit of rage, in a panic or impulsively, in other contexts such as a heat of passion or domestic situation, or while a defendant is under the influence of drugs or alcohol. However, there is no evidence which suggests that Mrs. Robinson was killed in a fit of panic or in the heat of passion; to the contrary, the court below rejected these suggestions. Similarly, the fact that a murder was not a contract or witness elimination killing does not preclude application of this factor.

Davis also asserts that CCP should not have been found because the murder was planned while LSD was being consumed, citing White v. State, 616 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1993), and that the entire sequence of events from the time the defendants were ingesting the drugs at Denny's until Robinson was dead constitutes an uninterrupted course of conduct, precluding application of this factor under Thompson v. State, 619 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1992). These claims are also without merit.

Similarly, in <u>Thompson</u>, this Court reversed the finding of CCP, noting that no evidence of planning prior to the commencement of the conduct leading to the death of the victim had been presented. In doing so, this Court did not create an absolute rule with regard to this factor, but merely another aspect to consider

in determining its applicability. The finding of CCP in this case is consistent with decisions from this Court on the application of that factor, even if Davis's plan to kill Mrs. Robinson was modified as to the manner of killing by the time of the actual murder, since the facts outlined above demonstrate sufficient reflection at the scene to support this factor. Compare Knight v. State, 746 So. 2d 423, 436 (Fla. 1998) ("Even if Knight did not make the final decision to execute the two victims until sometime during his lengthy journey to his final destination, that journey provided an abundance of time for Knight to coldly and calmly decide to kill"); Walls, 641 So. 2d at 388 (CCP established by nature of the murder, where victim was killed in mobile home after hearing defendant kill her boyfriend and being terrorized by defendant); Lockhart v. State, 655 So. 2d 69, 73 (Fla. 1995) (prolonged nature of torture murder demonstrated that killing did not occur on the spur of the moment, supporting CCP).

In <u>Bell v. State</u>, 699 So. 2d 674, 677 (Fla. 1997), this Court noted that CCP may be proven by facts such as the advance procurement of the murder weapon, the lack of resistance or provocation, and the appearance of a killing carried out as a matter of course. <u>See also Stein v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1994); <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988). No error is presented in the application of this factor below.

In addition, any possible error in the finding of this

aggravating factor must be deemed harmless. Given the two other strong aggravators of heinous, atrocious or cruel and committed while on felony probation, and the lack of significant mitigation, there is no reasonable possibility that Davis's sentence would have been any different had this factor been rejected below. Compare Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1996) (this Court struck CCP, leaving aggravating factors of heinous, atrocious and cruel and committed during course of burglary; mitigation of 22 years old; love of family; bipolar manic personality); Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1995) (improper finding of CCP harmless where five aggravating factors remained). There is no reasonable likelihood of a different sentence in this case, even without consideration of the cold, calculated and premeditated factor, and Davis's death sentence must be affirmed. See Rogers, 511 So. 2d at 535.

Finally, it must be noted again that Davis's attempt to adopt a claim presented below with regard to the constitutionality of this factor at page 62 of his brief (see footnote 8), is not sufficient, and any possible error in this regard has been waived.

Sweet, 810 So. 2d at 870; Duest, 555 So. 2d at 852.

Although Davis does not dispute the proportionality of his death sentences, this Court must still conduct a proportionality review. Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 2000); Jennings v. State, 718 So. 2d 144, 154 (Fla. 1998). Of course, a proportionality determination does not turn on the existence and

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